TOWN OF FULTON



PERSONNEL POLICY

Effective as of October 14, 2023

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1	5
GENERAL PROVISIONS	5
SCOPE	
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY	5
EMPLOYMENT AT-WILL	
NOT A CONTRACT	5
ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES	
SOLICITATION	
CHAPTER 2	6
INITIAL EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION AND REQUIREMENTS	
APPLICATIONS	
BASIS OF EMPLOYMENT	7
AGE REQUIREMENTS	
NEPOTISM	
RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION	
CHADDED 2	o
CHAPTER 3	
WORKING CONDITIONS DEFINITIONS OF EMPLOYEE STATUS	<u>o</u>
PERSONNEL RECORDS	
TIME POLICY	
CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION	
USE OF TOWN TIME AND/OR EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL	
PERSONAL BUSINESS	
POSSESSION OF WEAPONS	
USE OF TOWN VEHICLES	
ACCIDENTS	
USE OF TOWN CREDIT CARDS	
SAFEGUARDING TOWN ASSETS	
HARASSMENT POLICY & REPORTING PROCEDURES	
STATEMENT OF POLICY ON INTERNET USE AND PRIVACY	
ELECTRONIC MAIL	
INTOXICATION AND THE USE OF ALCOHOL AND DRUGS	
SOCIAL NETWORKING	14
CHAPTER 4	14
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT	14
ATTENDANCE	
PROBATIONARY PERIOD OR ORIENTATION PERIOD	14
SENIORITY	15
PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL	
PROMOTIONS/DEMOTIONS/REASSIGNMENTS/TRANSFERS	15

CONDUCT AND WORK PERFORMANCE	15
DISCIPLINARY ACTION	
GRIEVANCES	17
MEDICAL INFORMATION CONFIDENTIALITY POLICY	17
CHAPTER 5	18
COMPENSATION	18
PAY DAYS	
OVERTIME WORK AND PAY	18
OVERTIME PAY OR COMPENSATORY TIME FOR LAW	
ENFORCEMENT – EXEMPT AND APPOINTED OFFIC	ERS 19
OVERTIME PAY OR COMPENSATORY TIME FOR LAW	
ENFORCEMENT – NON-EXEMPT OFFICERS	19
LENGTH OF SERVICE PAY/LONGEVITY	20
HAZARD PAY	20
EMERGENCY LEAVE	20
CHAPTER 6	21
WAGE AND PAY PROCEDURES	
PROCEDURE FOR RECEIVING PAY	21
REGULAR PAYMENT PROCEDURES	21
FINAL PAYMENT PROCEDURES	21
HANDLING PAYCHECK EXCEPTIONS	21
CHAPTER 7	22
<u>LEAVES</u>	22
HOLIDAYS	
GENERAL-LEAVE TIME	
BREAKS AND LUNCHES	22
VACATION	22
SICK LEAVE	23
SUPPLEMENTAL INJURY LEAVE	24
FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE (FMLA)	24
DEATH OF A FAMILY MEMBER LEAVE (Funeral Leave)	24
JURY DUTY	24
MILITARY LEAVE	25
CIVIL LEAVE	25
UNAUTHORIZED LEAVE OF ABSENCE	25
LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	25
CHAPTER 8	26
TERMINATION	26
TERMINATION OF TOWN EMPLOYMENT	26
RESIGNATION	
TERMINATION/DISCHARGE	26
LAY-OFF	
ABANDONMENT/INVOLUNTARY RESIGNATION	26
RETIREMENT	26

	DEATH	26
CHADTED (9	27
<u>DLI (I</u>	EFITSHEALTH, DENTAL AND VISION INSURANCE	27
	LIFE AND DISABILITY INSURANCE (L&D)	
	RETIREMENT	
	STATUTORY BENEFITS	
	VOLUNTARY PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	
CHAPTER :	10	28
TRA	VEL AND TRAINING	28
<u> </u>	GENERAL	
	TRAVEL ADVANCE REQUEST FORM	28
	REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES	28
	ALCOHOL PURCHASES	28
	TRANSPORTATION (AIR)	28
	TRANSPORTATION (VEHICLE)	
	HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS	
	TRAVEL ON BEHALF OF OTHER AGENCIES	29
	TRAVEL OUTSIDE NORMAL WORKDAY	29
	OTHER AUTHORIZATIONS/APPROVALS	30
CHAPTER 1	11	30
FINA	NCIAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	30
	ACCOUNTS PAYABLE	30
	CHECK HANDLING AND DEPOSITS	30
	CASH HANDLING	
	CREDIT CARD CHARGES	31
	PROCUREMENT	31
	RECORD KEEPING	31

CHAPTER 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

SCOPE

Persons appointed to serve on Town Councils, Committees or advisors are exempt from these policies. A person on retainer or under a specific contract with the Town is not considered to be a Town employee unless a specified employment agreement is stipulated.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

The Town of Fulton is an equal opportunity employer committed to providing a policy of nondiscrimination with respect to all employees and applicants for employment. All personnel actions, such as recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, transfer, layoff, recall, compensation and benefits, discipline, termination, educational, recreational and social programs are administered without regard to race, color, sex, religion, national origin, age, or disability of otherwise qualified individuals. Employment decisions, subject to the legitimate business requirements of the Town, are based solely on the individual's qualifications, merit and performance. The Town's commitment extends to all employment-related decisions and terms and conditions of employment.

EMPLOYMENT AT-WILL

All employment with Town of Fulton shall be considered "at-will" employment. No contractual obligations shall exist by any reason of any policy, handbook or promise unless specifically provided in writing by the mayor. All employees should be aware that placement on the payroll does not constitute a contractual relationship of a specific length of time of employment. Employment with Town of Fulton is considered "at will". That is, either the employee or employer can sever the employment relationship at any time without notice, for any legal reason, or for no reason at all. Employment "at will" has been the Town's employment policy in the past and will continue to be until changed by official order of the mayor. Employment "at will" supersedes all other policies contained in the Town of Fulton Employee Handbook.

NOT A CONTRACT

The personnel policies set forth the major employment practices and procedures of the Town of Fulton. They supersede all past policies and procedures. The Town reserves the right to unilaterally modify or amend the provisions of this handbook at any time with or without notice. However, any modifications to this handbook can only be made in writing, signed by the mayor. No supervisor has the authority to make verbal or written changes to this policy. These policies and procedures are not intended to be a contract or to guarantee employment for any particular period.

If a conflict exists or develops between any policy described in this manual and the law, the requirements of the law will supersede the written policy. Employment with the Town is on an at-will basis. Therefore, the relationship can be terminated with or without cause or notice.

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICIES

Authority for the Creation of Jobs - With the exception of those positions established by statutory provisions, all positions or offices in the municipal organization, together with rates of

pay therefore, are created and authorized by the mayor within the established budget as approved by the Town Council.

Administrative and Appointive Authority - With the exception of matters and appointment reserved by the Town Council, general authority and responsibility for the conduct and administration of municipal affairs is vested in the mayor, including appointments to positions and the establishment and maintenance of satisfactory standards of efficiency, welfare, and morale of Town employees and the exercise of general control and supervision over all Departments, Officials, and positions created and approved by the Town Council. Final authority, in the form of review and approval, is reserved by the mayor with regard to all matters and subjects covered by these policies.

Departmental Administration of these Policies and Responsibilities - supervisors will be responsible for the proper and effective administration of these policies within their respective departments. They will also be responsible for:

- enforcing and maintaining proper standards of discipline and personal conduct among their employees;
- scheduling the work of employees to include overtime work and training in a manner most advantageous to the Town;
- the hiring, promoting, and assignment of duties to employees within their department to accomplish the mission of the department in the most efficient manner;
- the discharge, demotion, layoff, or suspension of employees within their department;
- determining the methods, processes, means and personnel by which operations are to be carried out;
- establishing job classifications, job descriptions and standards which provide the basis for recruiting and assignment; and
- establishing departmental rules to complement this policy.

Amendments - The mayor may change or amend these policies within statutory and limitations and within budget appropriations to the extent deemed necessary in order to more efficiently and effectively promote the interest of the Town, but no such change will divest any employee of benefits accrued as of the date of the change. This does not prevent the Town Council and mayor from changing or amending these policies at any time. The final authority resides with the Town Council on all policy matters.

SOLICITATION

To eliminate the possibility of misrepresenting the Town, all solicitations by any individuals employed by the Town of Fulton must receive advanced approval in writing from the supervisor and the mayor, to avoid any conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest by the fund-raising effort of an individual or an organization affiliated with the Town.

CHAPTER 2 INITIAL EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION AND REQUIREMENTS

APPLICATIONS

All persons seeking employment must complete, sign and file an application with the Town of Fulton.

BASIS OF EMPLOYMENT

All employment with the Town of Fulton shall be based on merit, ability, and physical fitness, as evidenced by training and experience as reflected by the employment application plus other documented evidence as to certification, registration, etc. if required.

AGE REQUIREMENTS

Where no age limit is otherwise specified by statutory requirements, the minimum age for initial employment may vary in accordance with the duties and responsibilities of the positions and conditions under which they are performed, subject to the following restrictions:

- No person under eighteen (18) years of age shall be employed as a regular full- time or probationary employee;
- No person under eighteen (18) years of age shall be employed as an employee in any position requiring the operation of a motorized vehicle owned by the Town; and
- No person under sixteen (16) years of age shall be employed as a part-time or seasonal employee.

NEPOTISM

Nepotism is the showing of favoritism toward a relative. The practice of nepotism in hiring personnel or awarding contracts is forbidden by the Town.

No person may be hired who is related within the second degree by affinity (marriage) or within the third degree by consanguinity (blood) to any member of the Town Council.

No employee may directly or indirectly supervise or be supervised by a member of their immediate family or by anyone within the third degree of consanguinity. An immediate family member includes a spouse, child, parent, sibling, grandparents, grandchild, spouse of any of the foregoing, or anyone otherwise cohabitating with the employee. In the event of a promotion, reorganization, or any other situation giving rise to a relationship prohibited by this policy, one or both of the affected employees must immediately seek a transfer to another available position within the Town for which he or she is qualified and that meets the requirements of this policy. If a suitable transfer cannot be made, within 30 calendar days of the event giving rise to a relationship prohibited by this policy, one or both of the affected employees will be required to resign from employment.

The Town will recognize the "Civil Law Method" to determine nepotism.

RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION

Supervisors shall notify the City Secretary of their anticipated vacancies as far in advance as possible to permit sufficient time for the approval to fill the position, recruitment and selection of qualified applicants. The mayor will be advised of any vacancies and authorization to advertise for applications to fill vacancies must have prior approval of the mayor. The selection of a new employee will be the responsibility of each supervisor. The Town will not re-hire any person who was previously terminated for cause from the Town. After selection has been made, the hiring supervisor shall submit the proper form to the City Secretary for review and to the mayor for approval. No employee shall be placed on the payroll prior to securing all approvals outlined herein.

CHAPTER 3 WORKING CONDITIONS

DEFINITIONS OF EMPLOYEE STATUS

- **Exempt** Employees occupying positions exempt from the minimum wage and maximum hours (overtime) provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act. This category typically includes supervisors, professional, and administrative personnel.
- **Salaried Non-Exempt** Employees who are paid a monthly wage and are eligible for authorized overtime compensation or compensatory time for hours worked beyond a 40-hour week. For law enforcement personnel, a different work period may be defined, typically consisting of 80 hours.
- Hourly Non-Exempt Employees who are paid an hourly wage and are eligible for authorized overtime compensation or compensatory time for hours worked beyond a 40hour week.
- **Regular Full-time** Employees who work at least 40 hours per week indefinitely and have completed a six-month probationary period.
- **Regular Part Time** Employees who work an average of less than 30 hours per week.
- **Temporary** Employees hired for an interim period to fill short-term needs, such as special projects, seasonal demands, or absence of a full-time employee.
- **Probationary** An employee seeking Regular Full-time status and is serving a sixmonth probationary period. (Limited benefits are available during this period.)

PERSONNEL RECORDS

The employee is responsible for reporting changes in address, telephone number, emergency notification data, deductions and any other pertinent data. An employee request for review of his/her personnel file should be made with the City Secretary at least 48 hours in advance.

TIME POLICY

All employees assigned to the timekeeping program must accurately clock in and out on their specific program. In the event an employee has to leave their job for non-Town business, they must clock "out" and back "in" upon return. Any exceptions or issues with timekeeping should be reported to the supervisor. Violations, such as clocking in or out for another employee, can result in disciplinary action, including termination, and may be punishable by law. Supervisors are accountable for the accuracy of their team members' timekeeping records.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION

As part of their ethical responsibility, employees must not use confidential business information for personal gain. Confidential information about clients, colleagues, or business processes should not be shared unless necessary for business operations. Breach of confidentiality, including on social media, can result in disciplinary action, including termination.

<u>USE OF TOWN TIME AND/OR EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS FOR PERSONAL BUSINESS</u> Employees are prohibited from using duty time, town equipment, or materials for personal benefit. Violations will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

POSSESSION OF WEAPONS

Except for authorized law enforcement personnel, employees are not allowed to possess

weapons while on duty or in Town offices. Violation of this policy can result in termination and criminal prosecution.

USE OF TOWN VEHICLES

Only Town employees are authorized to operate Town vehicles, which should only be used for Town business. For insurance purposes, only Town employees, consultants, or others involved in Town business are allowed as passengers in Town vehicles. Unauthorized use of Town vehicles can result in disciplinary action.

ACCIDENTS

Any accident involving Town equipment or vehicles, or any incident resulting in personal injury or property damage, must be reported to the City Secretary and the respective supervisor.

USE OF TOWN CREDIT CARDS

Town issued credit cards are to be used solely for Town business expenses. The cardholder is responsible for the security and appropriate use of their issued card. Any unauthorized, illegal, or personal use of the card will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination and potential legal consequences.

All purchases made using the Town issued credit card should be approved by a supervisor or other authorized individual prior to the transaction, unless otherwise stated in Town's financial policy. Receipts for all transactions must be kept and submitted to the City Secretary in a timely manner, typically within one week of the purchase. Failure to provide receipts may result in the cardholder being personally liable for the charges.

In the event of a lost or stolen card, the cardholder must immediately notify the issuing bank and their supervisor. Any charges incurred due to negligence in reporting a lost or stolen card may be the responsibility of the cardholder.

The finance department will conduct periodic audits of credit card statements to ensure compliance with Town's policies. Cardholders found to be non-compliant may have their credit card privileges revoked and face disciplinary action.

SAFEGUARDING TOWN ASSETS

All employees are expected to exercise due care and prudence to protect and preserve Town assets. These assets include, but are not limited to, physical items such as equipment, vehicles, buildings, and other property, as well as non-physical items like cash, intellectual property, and sensitive information.

- 1. Cash and Financial Assets: Any employee handling cash or financial transactions for the Town must exercise the utmost integrity and accuracy. Financial improprieties, such as embezzlement, fraud, or theft, are grounds for immediate termination and potential legal action.
- 2. Equipment and Physical Assets: Employees must handle all Town equipment, vehicles, and facilities with care. Any damage, loss, or theft of these assets must be reported to a supervisor or the City Secretary immediately. Unauthorized use or removal of Town equipment, including for personal use, is strictly prohibited.
- 3. Confidential and Intellectual Property: Confidential information, such as

resident data, financial records, or proprietary information, should be handled with extreme care. Employees are expected to protect this information and only share it with authorized individuals on a need-to-know basis. Breaching confidentiality or misusing intellectual property is grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Regular audits will be conducted to ensure the correct usage and safeguarding of Town assets. Any abuse or mismanagement of these assets may lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination, and potentially legal action.

HARASSMENT POLICY & REPORTING PROCEDURES

Employees must report any harassing or discriminating behavior within 30 days. The improper conduct must be reported promptly so that the Town can investigate and take appropriate action.

DEFINITION OF HARASSMENT:

For purposes of this policy, harassment is defined as offensive conduct relating to an employee's age, color, disability, gender, national origin, race or religion, which has the purpose or effect of creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment; or interfering with an individual's work performance; or adversely affecting an individual's employment or career-related action.

Harassment occurs in a variety of situations which all share a common element: unwelcome comments or behavior that affects the workplace. Some examples of harassing behavior include the following:

VERBAL: Threats directed toward an employee, their family or property; innuendos, jokes or comments emphasizing the age, color, disability, gender, national origin, race or religion of an employee; graphic comments; slurs; and unwelcome flirtations, propositions or sexual comments toward an employee. The Town of Fulton does not tolerate vulgar, abusive, humiliating or threatening language, practical jokes, or other inappropriate behavior in the workplace.

VISUAL: Derogatory, demeaning or suggestive graffiti, drawings, gestures or objects.

PHYSICAL: Unwelcome touching, impeding or blocking movement, physical interference with normal work or movement, or assault.

Harassment Policy

The Town is committed to providing an atmosphere which is free of harassment. In order to ensure such an environment, the Town will not tolerate the harassment of any employee or non-employee by any other employee or non-employee, supervisor, manager, or director for any reason.

Violators of this policy are subject to immediate disciplinary action up to and including termination. Non-employee violators of this policy are subject to expulsion from a Town of Fulton facility when harassment occurs on premise. The Town may discontinue service to off-premises violators of this policy. Furthermore, the Town may report violators to the appropriate authority for civil or criminal action.

Sexual Harassment Policy

The Town seeks to maintain a workplace free of sexual harassment and intimidation.

DEFINITION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT:

Sexual harassment is defined as "unwelcome" sexual advances, requests for sexual favors or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:

Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment, or submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individuals, or such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment.

Harassment of a sexual nature is a violation of various state and federal laws which may subject the individual harasser to liability for any such unlawful conduct.

The Town prohibits retaliation of any kind against employees who, in good faith, bring sexual harassment complaints or assist in investigating complaints.

Complaint Procedure

It shall be the responsibility of the mayor or his/her designee to coordinate and direct the investigation and review of harassment complaints. The following procedures shall apply to the receipt, review and handling of such complaints. Any employee who believes that he/she has been the subject of prohibited harassment is required to report it within 30 days in accordance with the procedures provided herein. All interviews, allegations, statements, and identities will remain confidential to the extent possible and allowed by law.

Exercising rights under this policy does not in any way affect an employee's right to seek relief through the Texas Commission on Human Rights, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or in a court of proper jurisdiction for any complaint for which a remedy is provided under state or federal law. The harassment investigation referred to above does not preclude any simultaneous or subsequent criminal, internal affairs, or other investigation of the complaint or related issues.

Steps:

- 1. The individual alleging harassment must report the incident to the City Secretary within thirty (30) days after the alleged incident. The complainant will be required to complete a written statement giving specifics of the incident allowing the Town representative(s) to proceed with a thorough investigation. If the City Secretary is the individual accused of the harassment or is otherwise unavailable, the report must be made to the employee's supervisor.
- 2. The respondent (the accused) will be contacted by the City Secretary and apprised of the allegations.
- 3. The respondent will have the opportunity to refute the allegation(s) by responding, in writing, within five (5) workdays. The respondent will also have the opportunity to respond to any other new information/allegations that may arise during the course of the investigation.
- 4. The City Secretary will coordinate a full investigation of the allegation(s) made and may enlist investigative assistance to accomplish the investigation if necessary. The investigation will include interviews with the complainant, the respondent, and all

- known witnesses. Signed witness statements will be obtained when possible.
- After conducting a thorough investigation of the allegation(s) regarding harassment, the investigator shall report all findings, conclusions and recommendations to the City Secretary.
- 6. Within five (5) workdays of the conclusion of the investigation, the City Secretary will provide the supervisor with all documentation and summary conclusion regarding the validity of the complainant's allegation(s).
- 7. The decision regarding any possible disciplinary action will be made by the supervisor as soon as reasonably possible after receiving the findings and recommendations. This decision will be made after the supervisor has conferred with the Town's legal counsel, City Secretary, mayor, and any other necessary party.
- 8. A complainant may withdraw a complaint at any time. However, the Town may still pursue the investigation and determine whether disciplinary action or other remedial measures is warranted.
- 9. If the validity or falsification of the allegations cannot be satisfactorily established, the supervisor, along with the appropriate supervisory personnel, shall decide on an appropriate action; which minimizes interference with departmental operations; and/or allows for the respondent and complainant to continue their work routines with minimal personal consequence/contact.
- 10. Should the Town's investigation reveal that a violation of the Town's harassment policy occurred, the Town will take such disciplinary action, up to and including termination, or other remedial measure as it deems appropriate to stop the prohibited activity. Should the Town's investigation determine that an employee made a deliberately false statement allegation in this process, that employee will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

STATEMENT OF POLICY ON INTERNET USE AND PRIVACY OF ELECTRONIC MAIL

The Town provides computing and telecommunications facilities to employees for Town business purposes only. Employees are prohibited from using computing and telecommunications facilities for anything other than Town business. This policy applies to, but is not limited to mainframe electronic mail systems, electronic commerce, electronic bulletin boards, and both intra and inter-enterprise communications such as the internet. Use of such Town facilities is a privilege. Employees who misuse them may have their communications privileges revoked and are subject to disciplinary measures, up to and including termination. Examples of misuse include attempts to misappropriate or damage computing resources; use for unlawful purposes or non-Town commercial purposes; advocacy of religious, social or political causes; and use of threatening, harassing, obscene, or abusive language.

- a. Discipline Employees may be disciplined up to and including termination for violation of E-mail policies or the violation of any other company policies through the use of the E-mail system.
 - b. E-Mail Review All E-mail is subject to review by management. Your use of the E-mail system grants consent to the review of any of the messages to or from you in the system, in printed form or in any other medium.

Periodically, employee use of the network, E-mail and other communications systems may be monitored. Violations of Town policies detected through such monitoring can lead to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. For example, if you are using the system to

abuse others, you may be disciplined. If you gain access to information in any unauthorized fashion, you may be disciplined.

c. Harassment - Foul, inappropriate or offensive messages such as racial, sexual or religious slurs are prohibited in E-mail. Violation of this policy will lead to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

E-mail messages are considered to be business records of the Town. Accordingly, they may be used in administrative, judicial or other proceedings. E-mail messages may be subject to the Public Information Act.

The use of E-mail and Internet access may only be used by authorized personnel. If you have not been issued an E-mail/Internet address, you may not use the facility. Employees are not to use unauthorized codes, passwords or other means to gain access to E-mail belonging to others. Employees shall not disclose their codes or passwords to others.

Employees are responsible for compliance with the Town statement of policy on E-mail and Internet access. Executable file attachments received via electronic mail, Internet communications, or removable computer media can potentially contain dangerous computer viruses. Each person receiving executable files shall be held individually accountable for using appropriate measures to execute the integrity and safety of such files before their execution upon Town computing facilities.

Any questions regarding this policy should be directed to the supervisor prior to use of electronic communications. Access authorizations will be established by the City Secretary. Written requests for access authorizations for employees should be forwarded to the City Secretary. Use of the Town computing and telecommunications facilities constitutes acceptance of this Town policy.

INTOXICATION AND THE USE OF ALCOHOL AND DRUGS

The Town is committed to having a drug-free workplace. The mere intake of illegal drugs or the abuse of prescription drugs is prohibited. Reporting to work or attempting to report to work under the influence of alcohol is also prohibited. Therefore, employees who are subject to emergency call must comply with the terms of this policy while on call. Use, possession, consumption of alcohol and/or illegal drugs is not permitted during working hours by any employee, nor may any employee be under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs during working hours. The illegal or improper possession, consumption, exchange, delivery, distribution, or sale of alcohol and/or drugs is not permitted. Any employee engaging on or off the job, in the unlawful use, possession, consumption, exchange, delivery, distribution or sale of any illegal drug or any prescription drug not properly prescribed to that employee will be terminated. Employees are subject to testing for such substances. Any employee who tests positive for alcohol, any illegal drug, or any prescription drug not properly prescribed to that employee, while on duty, will be terminated. Any employee engaging in the use, possession, or consumption of any alcohol while on duty, on Town property, in Town vehicle(s) or in personal vehicle(s) being used for Town purposes, will be subject to discipline up to and including termination. Any employee who refuses to consent to or submit to urinalysis or blood alcohol test(s) will be terminated.

SOCIAL NETWORKING

Social media refers to the means of interaction among people in which they create, share and exchange information and ideas in virtual communities and networks. Social networking sites include, but are not limited to: Facebook, LinkedIn, Blogs, Twitter, YouTube, Flickr, MySpace, "X", etc. Social networking during work hours or while using the Town's communication systems, unless the social networking is part of an employee's job, is prohibited. When an employee is promoting the Town's products or services, the employee should make clear that he/she is employed by the Town and never post personal opinions. When an employee posts his/her own personal views on networking sites, he/she should make clear that he/she is speaking for himself/herself and NOT the employer. Do not mention the employer's name on your personal social networking sites when posting personal opinion. Employees should be mindful of the Town's personnel policies when using social network sites.

CHAPTER 4 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

ATTENDANCE

Each employee has a responsibility to be on the job at the prescribed time every day. At each Town facility, each employee has an important designated job to perform, and unexpected absences disrupt the Town's operation.

- Excused Absences All employees must notify their immediate supervisor prior to an absence. An absence is excused when the employee notifies the supervisor beforehand and the supervisor grants permission for the employee to be absent. Absences due to unforeseen emergencies such as sudden family illness, car accidents shall be excused. Excused absences in excess of those allowed by sick leave, vacation, jury duty, or funeral leave shall be taken by the employee without pay. Chronic excused and unpaid absences shall be cause for disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
- Unexcused Absences An unexcused absence occurs when an employee fails to notify the supervisor of an absence prior to the scheduled starting time and/or permission is not granted by the supervisor. The supervisor shall issue a written reprimand and enter it in the employee's personnel file after any unexcused absence. Any unexcused absence shall be cause for termination, except in rare cases of mitigating circumstances.
- Tardiness Tardiness occurs when an employee is late arriving on the job. If an employee fails to notify the supervisor within one (1) hour after starting time, then the tardiness is considered an unexcused absence. If an employee is late three (3) times, the supervisor shall issue a written reprimand and enter it in the employee's personnel file. Three (3) written reprimands for tardiness in a 12-month period shall be cause for disciplinary action, up to, and including termination.

PROBATIONARY PERIOD OR ORIENTATION PERIOD

Upon initial employment, full-time employees will serve a six (6) month probationary/orientation period. This period should be utilized to observe and evaluate the work of new employees and specially to encourage their effective adjustment to the new job and service to the Town. A new employee may be dismissed at any time during the probationary/orientation period. Supervisors shall retain as full-time employees only those who

meet an acceptable level of performance during this period. However, the completion of the probationary or orientation period does not guarantee continued employment thereafter nor does it alter the employment or at-will nature of the employment relationship.

At the discretion of the supervisor, and agreed upon in writing by the probationary employee, the probationary/orientation period can be extended beyond a six (6) month period to further observe and evaluate the individual, and if the probationary employee has passed the probationary period, they can be put back on probation as a disciplinary action.

Before the end of each employee's probation/orientation period, the supervisor shall either terminate the employee or such employee shall be transferred to full-time status.

SENIORITY

There shall be no accumulation of seniority during the first six (6) months of employment. Seniority will be retroactive to the first date of employment after successfully completing the probationary period. Seniority will be based on the number of years within the department. Seniority is used for vacation purposes only.

PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Performance appraisals will be scheduled at the end of an employee's six (6) month probation period. A yearly appraisal will be given to each employee on or about their anniversary date by their supervisor. Written records of all appraisals will become a part of the employees' personnel file.

PROMOTIONS/DEMOTIONS/REASSIGNMENTS/TRANSFERS

Promotions will be awarded based on length of service, skill, job performance, initiative, merit and business needs as the Town determines appropriate. Likewise, the Town retains sole discretion in demoting or reassigning employees when necessary. An employee may request a voluntary reassignment, demotion or transfer by making such a request to his or her supervisor. However, the Town will grant voluntary reassignment or transfer requests only where it deems appropriate, in its sole discretion.

CONDUCT AND WORK PERFORMANCE

It is each employee's responsibility to follow the Town's policies, procedures and job performance standards in carrying out his/her job duties. Violations of those policies or procedures or inadequate job performance may result in disciplinary action as the Town deems appropriate. The following is a list of acts which may result in such disciplinary action. However, as it would be impossible to list every possible infraction of the Town's standards of behavior or work performance, the list is not exclusive and is included only for purposes of examples of such infractions.

- a. Violation of the criminal laws of the United States or any state or municipality thereof;
- b. Any conduct contrary to the Town's equal employment opportunity policy, including verbal or physical conduct constituting sexual or other prohibited harassment;
- c. Violation of any provisions of the Statutes, ordinances, these policies or any rules or regulations which may be prescribed by the mayor or supervisor;
- d. Dishonest or fraudulent conduct, including but not limited to fraud, theft, misappropriation of, or unauthorized removal of the Town's or fellow employees' funds or property;

- e. Improper or unauthorized use of Town vehicles, equipment, or property;
- f. Falsification of the Town's business records, including but not limited to employee time records, expense reports, and requests for reimbursement or any other information required by the Town;
 - g. Claim of sick or emergency leave under false or misleading pretenses;
- h. Insubordination, the refusal to comply with instructions, or the failure or refusal to perform assigned duties;
- i. Unsatisfactory job performance; inability to perform job duties; neglect of duty or loitering while on duty;
 - j. Violation of the Town's Alcohol and Drug Abuse Policy included herein;
- k. Failure to observe health and safety rules or properly report accidents or personal injuries;
 - 1. Habitual absenteeism or tardiness;
- m. Physical violence or threats of violence, or insulting, intimidating, coercive, abusive or obscene language or gestures toward the public, Town officers or other employees;
- n. Inability or unwillingness to cooperate with other employees when performing assigned tasks, or any interference with the performance of job duties by fellow employees;
- o. Disorderly conduct, such as "horseplay" practical jokes, which may endanger the Town's operations or the well-being of any employee, citizen or visitor;
- p. Neglect or carelessness resulting in damage to Town and/or Citizen's property or equipment;
- q. False, vicious, or malicious statements or criticism of the Town, its employees, or its services that interferes with productivity, job performance, or with the respectful and professional treatment of employees or the public;
- r. Unauthorized solicitation of money, goods or services from the public by an employee of the Town;
 - s. Abuse of any leave policy;
 - t. Working another job while on sick leave or workers' compensation injury leave;
- u. Not reporting to work from illness or injury when released from the doctor or tampering with such release;
- v. Violation of the Town's policies regarding confidential information and conflicts of interest, or any conduct which is in conflict with the Town's standards of appropriate business and professional ethics; and
- w. Failure to adhere to the rules of operation and conduct established by the Town, including but not limited to those practices and procedures set forth in this manual and any other written employment policies.

DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Every employee has the duty and responsibility to be aware of and abide by existing rules and policies. Employees also have the responsibility to perform their duties to the best of their ability and to the standards as set forth in their job description(s), job profile(s), or as otherwise established. The Town may exercise discretion to utilize forms of discipline that are less severe than termination of employment, including, but not limited to, verbal or written warnings; change in access, job responsibilities or employment status; or any other action deemed appropriate by the Town. These forms of disciplinary action are not guaranteed, may be applied in any order, and do not necessarily progress in severity. The Town reserves the right to determine and apply disciplinary action in its discretion based on the seriousness of the infraction, the past record of the employee, and the facts and circumstances surrounding the matter. However, this policy does not modify the "at-will" status of employees or in any way

restrict the "Town's" right to enforce appropriate discipline as warranted.

GRIEVANCES

It is the policy of the Town, insofar as possible, to prevent the occurrence of grievances and to deal promptly with those which occur. A grievance may be filed by a regular employee, except an employee who has been terminated, on one or more of the following grounds: (1) improper application of the rules, regulations and procedures (but not the rules, regulations, and procedures themselves); (2) unfair treatment; (3) illegal discrimination based on race, religion, color, sex (including sexual harassment), age, handicap or national origin; (4) disciplinary action taken without cause; or (5) improper working conditions. Grievances are appealed through the immediate supervisor to the Town Council, whose decision is final. The grievance procedure is (1) informal, (2) written grievance, (3) appeal to the mayor and (4) appeal to Town Council. During the first two steps, the supervisor shall promptly respond to the employee grievance. Grievances must be filed within 30 days.

MEDICAL INFORMATION CONFIDENTIALITY POLICY

The Town strives to protect the privacy of its employees' medical information to the greatest possible extent. To accomplish this, the Town and its managers and employees are required to follow these guidelines regarding the confidentiality of medical information.

- All medical information concerning employees will be maintained in their employee files that are stored in a secured area. Only authorized employees will have access to such files, and access will be provided solely on a need-to-know basis. Furthermore, such access shall be granted only in accordance with applicable law, which includes (but is not limited to) the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Federal Rehabilitation Act, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPPA), state workers' compensation law and state privacy laws.
- Employees are hereby notified that medical information concerning employees is absolutely confidential under state and federal laws and may not be discussed at any time with any person under any circumstances. Exceptions are if an employee needs to do so in order to carry out his or her job duties, or if the person discussing the information is talking with the subject of the information at that person's invitation. If an employee is concerned about a co-worker's possible medical condition, the employee should direct these concerns only to the City Secretary and no one else.
- Any employee who is found to have discussed medical information about another
 employee in violation of this policy, or who is found to have released such
 information without authorization, will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and
 including immediate termination from employment. In addition, employees who
 violate medical information confidentiality may be subject to civil and criminal
 liability under state and federal laws.
- Any access to medical records must be approved by the City Secretary. If an employee believes that this medical information confidentiality policy has been violated, he or she should contact the City Secretary. If it is believed that the City Secretary has violated the policy, the employee should contact the Town Attorney.
- Medical records will not be provided to outsiders, except when the Town is properly served with a valid subpoena. When possible, the Town will notify the employee of the proper service of a subpoena.

•

CHAPTER 5 COMPENSATION

PAY DAYS

All employees are paid bi-weekly (resulting in 26 pay periods annually). Each pay period consists of 10 working days or 80 hours, except for law enforcement. Law enforcement payroll consists of 80 hours beginning Thursday, 12:00:01 a.m. to Wednesday, 11:59:59 p.m., fourteen days later. Pay periods for both exempt and non-exempt hourly employees end every alternate Wednesday, with the actual pay date falling on the following Friday. In the event of an observed holiday falling on a pay date, payroll will adjust check issuance accordingly.

OVERTIME WORK AND PAY

Overtime is compensated at the legally prescribed rate, exclusively available to non-exempt employees. It is important to note that overtime will not be paid at one and one-half times the regular hourly rate if it's accrued in the same week that sick time is taken. In such instances, overtime will be paid at straight time, as sick time does not contribute to overtime calculations. Any employee who is on call for work on the Sewer Lift Stations and/or maintenance shall be granted overtime for the hours actually worked if called for work on such Lift Stations and/or maintenance when on call. Ways overtime can be used are:

- Equal time off within the same work period;
- Payment at the rate of one and one-half times the employee's regular hourly rate if specifically authorized by the supervisor.

Compensatory time is time which is credited toward normal work hours during which an employee is excused from work in lieu of having to pay overtime. Compensatory Time is only available to exempt employees. You may accrue a maximum of 20 hours of compensatory at any given time. Compensatory time is encouraged to be used during the calendar year or will be paid out to the employee annually at the end of each calendar year. Compensatory time is paid at one and one-half times the number of hours worked. Once employees have accrued 40 hours of compensatory time, all additional overtime hours will be paid at the overtime rate through payroll, or flexed off during the workweek it was earned, until such time as the compensatory time accrual has been reduced.

All designated personnel who worked preceding, during, and in recovery days after a catastrophic event may be entitled to overtime compensation*. Designated personnel shall include but not be limited to exempt and nonexempt employees. Overtime rate will be paid at one and one-half times pay that employee receives at his/her regular pay rate. If salaried or exempt, overtime rate will be annual salary divided by 2080. For example:

```
Annual salary 30,000/2080 = 14.42 \times 1.5 = 21.63 \text{ per hour*}
Annual salary 30,000/2236 = 13.42 \times 1.5 = 20.13 \text{ per hour*}
```

Designated personnel will be named by mayor or supervisor who are needed in the Town for health and safety reasons when it is safe to return.

OVERTIME PAY OR COMPENSATORY TIME FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT – EXEMPT AND APPOINTED OFFICERS

- The Police Chief is classified as "exempt" under the FLSA.
- Exempt Police Officers earn compensatory time for hours worked that are in excess of 80 in a work period. Work Period being defined as 80 hours beginning Thursday, 12:00:01 a.m. to Wednesday, 11:59:59 p.m., fourteen days later. Compensatory time for exempt Police Officers is earned at one and one-half times.
- Exempt Police Officers may not accrue more than 40 hours of compensatory time. Exempt Police Officers are paid for unused, accrued compensatory time, subject to the 40-hour limit, when their employment with the Town ends.

<u>OVERTIME PAY OR COMPENSATORY TIME FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT – NON-EXEMPT</u> OFFICERS

- Nonexempt Police Officers are eligible to receive one and one-half times their regular hourly rate in overtime pay or compensatory time credited at the rate of one and one-half times for hours worked over 80 hours in a work period. Work Period being defined as 80 hours beginning Thursday, 12:00:01 a.m. to Wednesday, 11:59:59 p.m., fourteen (14) days later. Some officers may work flexible schedules during this fourteen (14) day work period as assigned by the Police Chief. The Police Officer has the option prior to accepting the work assignment to refuse compensatory time off and elect to be paid overtime pay.
- Nonexempt Police Officers may not accrue more than 40 hours of compensatory time. If a nonexempt Police Officer works overtime hours that cause them to exceed the 40-hour compensatory time limit, all hours over 40 hours must be paid as overtime at the rate of one-and- one-half times the Police Officer's regular rate of pay. For example, if a nonexempt Police Officer works 84 hours in a work period, four of those hours are "overtime" hours. If these hours are to be compensated with compensatory time, six hours would be added to the Police Officer's compensatory leave balance.
- If the 40-hour limit is exceeded by the additional compensatory time, all compensatory time hours over 40 hours are paid at the Police Officer's straight time rate (the four overtime hours have already been converted to six hours of compensatory time).
- Generally, leave time used does not count as hours worked for the basis of calculating overtime eligibility. An exception to this rule is holiday leave which counts as hours worked. Only those hours actually worked or treated under Town policy labor in excess of 80 hours are compensated at the one-and-one-half overtime rate (either in pay or compensatory time).
- Nonexempt Police Officers whose employment with the Town is terminated for any reason are paid for all accrued compensatory time.
- If a nonexempt Police Officer moves to an appointed Police Officer position, any unused compensatory time accumulated while the Police Officer was nonexempt will not be paid out at the nonexempt rate at the time of the change in position move.
- As a governmental entity, the Town can use compensatory time by a governmental employer to control overtime cost by allowing Police Officers to earn compensatory time during heavy work periods and then to use the compensatory time when the workload permits it. State law allows a police officer to use compensatory time only

when both the police officer and the Town agree the time may be used.

A supervisor may request a Police Officer to:

- Use accrued compensatory time, when appropriate, to reduce future overtime costs.
- Use compensatory time to be off for either partial or full days.
- Use compensatory time instead of vacation leave when requesting time off work.
- If a Police Officer has an annual vacation use or lose requirement and already used the required number of vacation leave hours in a year to avoid losing vacation leave, asking the Police Officer to use compensatory time rather than vacation leave is appropriate.

LENGTH OF SERVICE PAY/LONGEVITY

The Town offers Longevity Pay to its regular full-time employees at \$10.00 per month for up to ten years of employment, capping at \$1,200.00 for those with tenure longer than ten years. Longevity Pay begins for an employee on the date of hire. If an employee begins employment as a part-time employee and is then promoted to full-time, the Longevity Pay begins on the date initially hired. Longevity Pay is for Regular full-time employees only and is paid out to the employees annually at the end of each calendar year.

If an employee terminates employment with the Town prior to the December lump sum payment date, he or she will not receive a longevity payment. Part-time hourly employees, contract labor employees and elected officials do not receive longevity pay. The longevity payment will be calculated on a prorated basis for only the number of months actually worked and/or paid. The Town can adjust and/or terminate any longevity pay with Council action at any time.

HAZARD PAY

Hazard pay is compensated at 2.5 times the employee's regular hourly rate, with the eligibility for such pay determined by the mayor.

EMERGENCY LEAVE

- **Emergency Evacuation Days**: Days, or portions thereof, designated by the mayor "Mandatory Evacuation Days" will be considered as additional holidays for the purpose of calculation of compensation.
- **Emergencies**: An eligible employee who is called in to work on a holiday because of an emergency or hazardous duty, or other special need of the Town, will be paid Holiday Pay, which will be paid at double time for hours worked.
- Closing due to an Evacuation Order: When an evacuation has been ordered, all non-emergency personnel will be released and encouraged to evacuate. Only those employees who are assigned functions necessary for the benefit of the general public during an emergency situation will be required to work. Employees designated by their supervisor as Emergency Service Personnel will not be authorized to evacuate should an evacuation order be issued in accordance with Chapter 22 of the Texas Labor Code. Shifts may be established according to departmental needs at the discretion of the supervisor. Employees who are assigned "on call" status must notify supervisors of locations where they can be contacted.

In times of disaster as declared by the mayor, Town Council, Aransas County, or the State of Texas, the mayor is authorized to hire part-time employees for recovery purposes.

CHAPTER 6 WAGE AND PAY PROCEDURES

PROCEDURE FOR RECEIVING PAY

Employees are to be paid every other Friday by noon for hours worked or for use of authorized paid leave. The pay period ends on the alternate Wednesday at 12:00 midnight.

REGULAR PAYMENT PROCEDURES

All paychecks received on a regular basis by full-time employees will be issued by direct deposit by designated persons within the Town. All paychecks received on a regular basis by part-time employees will be issued by paper paychecks by designated persons within the Town. On occasion, due to holiday schedules, etc., paper paychecks will be issued to all employees by designated persons within the Town.

Paychecks will be released to the employee only. In rare cases where circumstances prohibit an employee from picking up his/her check (i.e., illness), the employee should contact his/her supervisor authorizing another person to receive the check.

FINAL PAYMENT PROCEDURES

All final paychecks will be picked up at Town Hall unless otherwise instructed in writing by the employee. Paychecks will be released to the employee unless otherwise instructed in writing by the employee.

HANDLING PAYCHECK EXCEPTIONS

- Incorrect Paycheck: Employees are responsible for notifying their supervisor upon receipt of an incorrect paycheck. Failure of an employee to call the incorrect paycheck to the attention of the supervisor, and failure to return the incorrect check the same day, will delay the correction process until the next payroll period. If an employee's supervisor is unavailable or if the employee has not received a prompt and fully acceptable reply within three (3) business days, he/she should immediately contact his/her timekeeper. If the employee has not received a satisfactory response within five (5) business days after reporting his/her concern to the timekeeper, he/she should immediately contact the mayor.
- Lost or Stolen Paycheck: Employees are responsible for notifying their supervisor of a lost or stolen paycheck. A paycheck cannot be reissued until the bookkeeper receives written confirmation from the bank that the lost or stolen paycheck has not cleared the bank and the stop payment order is in effect. This may cause a delay in reissuing the check because this process may take up to three (3) working days.
- Method of Payment for Temporary, Seasonal, Contract Labor Employees:
 Temporary, Seasonal, and Contract Labor employees are paid in the same manner as regular full-time and part-time positions.

CHAPTER 7 LEAVES

HOLIDAYS

The Town observes all Federal Holidays and two (2) personal floating days off of employee's choice upon advanced approval of the supervisor. Employees will be paid at a rate in accordance with their regular hours or 8 hours per day for full-time employees. The two (2) personal days do not rollover from year to year.

GENERAL-LEAVE TIME

Leave time is time during normal working hours in which an employee does not engage in the performance of job duties and is either paid or unpaid. Leave time must be approved by the appropriate supervisor at least two (2) days prior to the requested leave dates.

BREAKS AND LUNCHES

A supervisor may establish breaks and lunch periods for their employees in accordance with their service and work requirements. Employees may be granted one fifteen (15) minute break for each four (4) hours worked. Employees are paid while on break. A lunch period may be thirty minutes or one hour depending on the work schedule approved by the mayor or supervisor. Lunch periods are in addition to the regular eight-hour work period. Employees are not paid during their lunch period; therefore, they should be relieved of all duties and be free to leave their posted workstation.

VACATION

All regular full-time employees are eligible to accrue paid vacation leave. No vacation leave benefits may be used by a new Town employee during the first six (6) months of employment, unless approved in advance by the appropriate supervisor. After completion of six (6) months, 40 hours of vacation leave are credited to the employee's account. Upon completion of first (1st) year, an additional 40 hours of vacation leave are credited to the employee's account for a total of 80 hours of vacation leave for the first (1st) full year of employment. After first (1st) year, employees earn vacation leave as follows:

Length of Service Vacation Leave
Through the tenth year: 80 Hours per year
Eleven through fifteen years 120 Hours per year
Sixteen or more years 160 Hours per year

Accumulation of Vacation Leave: Employees are encouraged to use their accrued
vacation leave each year. An employee may carry over unused vacation to the next
full year after accrual. If vacation leave is not taken by the end of the second
calendar year, it is lost and cannot be used. If an employee is unable to take vacation
due to work obligations, the mayor may approve carry over of the unused vacation
time.

All regular full-time employees with at least six (6) months of service are eligible to accrue paid vacation leave. Town employees are encouraged to take regular vacations at least annually.

Part-time employees and temporary employees (full-time or part-time) do not earn vacation

leave.

- Payment for Unused Vacation Leave Upon Termination: When an employee leaves the service of the Town, he or she will be paid for his or her accrued but unused vacation leave balance up to the maximum amount he or she would normally accrue in one year. The rate of pay will be determined by the salary rate in effect at the time of termination.
- **Responsibility for Verification**: supervisors are responsible for determining that leave is accrued and available for use in the amounts requested by an employee. In addition, these officials are responsible for ensuring that all vacation and sick leave usage is recorded on the timesheet sent to the bookkeeper for payroll purposes.

SICK LEAVE

Sick leave is designed to protect against the loss of income due to personal illness or injury, or an illness or injury of a member of an employee's immediate family. The following are considered immediate family for use of sick leave: current spouse, child or parent that depends on you for care.

Any employee who is absent from duty and reports sickness as the reason for such absence shall be required to present a return-to-work slip/physicians release upon their return to work, for absences of 2 or more consecutive workdays.

Non-exempt hourly employees who report off sick shall be paid sick leave benefits beginning the second (2nd) day, unless hospitalized or scheduled for an outpatient procedure, in which case they will be paid from the first (1st) day of sickness.

Non-exempt salaried and exempt salaried employees are paid from the first (1st) day.

- **Notice of Leave** Notice that an employee is sick and cannot report for duty will be made in every case to the immediate supervisor or supervisor. This notice should be made by the employee reporting sick, at least one (1) hour before reporting time.
- **Illness while on duty** When an employee becomes sick while on duty to the extent that he/she must leave his/her work, he/she shall immediately notify their supervisor.
- **Probationary employees** Hourly non-exempt employees who are still serving their probationary period shall accrue sick leave as provided; however sick leave pay will only be granted to employees who have completed their probationary period. Salaried non-exempt and exempt employees may use sick leave at the discretion of the supervisor as long as they have accumulated sick leave available.
- **Accumulation** After six (6) months of employment, an employee accrues 4.00 hours of sick leave each pay period. An employee with accrued sick leave may use it if the employee is absent from work due to:
 - i. Personal illness or physical or mental incapacity;
 - ii. Medical or optical examinations or treatments;
 - iii. Medical quarantine resulting from exposure to a contagious disease; or

iv. Illness of a member of the employee's immediate family who requires the employee's personal care and attention.

Advance notice of such leave should be given, in any event no later than the scheduled work time, unless emergency conditions exist. Supervisors may require written verification by a physician of medical disability. An employee may carry over unused sick leave for the duration of their employment with the Town up to fifty (50) days. Excessive use of sick leave with adequate justification is cause for disciplinary action including dismissal.

- **Abuse of benefits** Use of sick leave for a purpose other than that for which it was approved, requested or intended, or for a reason that is not in compliance with this policy may be considered an indication of an employee's inability to perform the job and may constitute grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination. Evidence of abuse of sick leave can include, but is not limited to:
 - i. Excessive absenteeism;
 - ii. Evidence of malingering;
 - iii. Frequent absences on Friday and/or Monday;
 - iv. Exhausting sick leave as it is accrued; or
 - v. Frequent absences prior to or following a holiday.

Employees who are disciplined for abusing sick leave may be required to bring a doctor's note when using any sick leave.

SUPPLEMENTAL INJURY LEAVE

The Town provides paid leave to full-time, regular employees to make up the difference between Workers' Compensation benefits (Temporary Income Benefits) and gross pay under the Town of Fulton's Disability Management and Supplemental Leave Policy.

FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE (FMLA)

The Town complies with The Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

DEATH OF A FAMILY MEMBER LEAVE (Funeral Leave)

A full-time employee who has completed the probationary period shall be granted up to three (3) days off in the case of the death of a member of the immediate family. The three (3) days referred to herein are to be taken during a two week time period limited to the two weeks following the death of the immediate family member. The leave will be paid at the employee's regular rate of pay. If any additional time off is needed by the employee for related business then the employee may use vacation or leave without pay with supervisor approval.

Proof of death and family relationship is required by the Town in order to claim this benefit. A member of the immediate family shall mean: father, mother, grandparents, husband, wife, brother, sister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son, daughter, father and mother of spouse, grandparents of spouse, legal guardian of an employee or spouse, grandchildren, and son-in-law or daughter-in-law.

JURY DUTY

The Town shall grant jury duty leave for an employee summoned to serve on any grand, petit, or municipal court jury. Jury duty leave will also be granted for an employee who has been

subpoenaed on behalf of the Town. The Town shall not discharge an employee from employment because of the nature or length of the employee's jury service. When an employee is on jury leave, he/she shall continue to receive his/her regular rate of pay in addition to any per diem received by the employee from the state or the court for jury service. The time spent on jury duty that coincides with the employee's regular work time is counted as straight time for overtime calculation purposes. If an employee is chosen as a juror, they must notify their supervisor immediately and fulfill the citizenship obligation. If the employee is not selected as a juror, the employee is required to report back to work upon being released from service. If more than 50% of the employee's shift remains at the time the employee is released from service, the employee is expected to report back to work during that shift. If less than 50% of the employee's shift is left at the time the employee is released from service, the employee is expected to report to work on their next scheduled shift. All employees must provide proof of attendance from the presiding court to their supervisor upon their return to work. Proof of attendance must be attached to the employee's time sheet.

MILITARY LEAVE

Members of the Armed Forces of the United States or recognized reserves are entitled to a leave of absence when engaged in authorized training or duty ordered by the proper authority not to exceed 15 days in any one calendar year. An employee ordered to extended active duty is entitled to all the reemployment rights and benefits provided by law.

CIVIL LEAVE

Employees are granted civil leave, with pay, for jury duty, for serving as a subpoenaed witness in an official proceeding and for the purpose of voting at the regular rate of pay for that employee when taking leave during normal business hours.

UNAUTHORIZED LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Any unauthorized absence from work for a period of three consecutive working days will be considered abandonment of position or resignation.

LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

In addition to such leave of absence an employee may be entitled to under the Town's Family and Medical Leave (FMLA) Policy, the supervisor may grant any regular employee in his/her department a leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed seven (7) calendar days. Leave of absence of an employee for a period beyond seven (7) days granted by the supervisor shall be presented to the supervisor for recommendation. The request shall state the entire additional time desired and the reasons thereof. The supervisor shall forward the request, with their recommendation, to the mayor. The mayor shall have the sole authority to grant such a request and him/her ruling shall be final. No leave will be granted under this policy for the purpose of enabling employees to accept outside employment. No employee shall be given leave to take a position outside the Town service for more than sixty (60) days in any calendar year, unless it clearly appears that the public interest is to be served by such a leave.

CHAPTER 8 TERMINATION

TERMINATION OF TOWN EMPLOYMENT

All employees who leave the services of the Town will be required to surrender and return to their departments or other proper source all records and/or property of the Town of Fulton which may be in their possession or custody.

RESIGNATION

Any employee who terminates his/her position with the Town of his/her own accord. The Town requests that departing employees give at least two (2) weeks' notice of resignation. On the next regular pay day the employee is eligible to be paid for unused vacation as provided by the vacation policy. The employee will not be paid for unused sick leave unless they are a Civil Service employee.

TERMINATION/DISCHARGE

Any employee whose employment is terminated by the Town for any reason. Within six (6) days of the termination the employee will be paid for unused vacation as provided by the vacation policy. The employee will not be paid for unused sick leave.

LAY-OFF

Any employee whose employment is terminated due to unfavorable business conditions, e.g., budget constraints. Within six (6) days of the lay-off the employee will be paid for unused, accrued vacation time. The employee will not be paid for unused sick leave. All lay-offs because of the reduction in force shall be in inverse order of seniority by classification within the department. Re-employment shall be in inverse order of lay-offs, for a period of 90 days after lay-off. However, nothing shall prevent the Town from laying off those with more seniority but less qualifications.

ABANDONMENT/INVOLUNTARY RESIGNATION

An employee who is absent for more than three (3) consecutive scheduled workdays without approval and notification to their supervisor is considered to have abandoned his employment. This applies to an employee during the normal course of employment as well as the scheduled return from vacation or leave of absence. On the next scheduled pay day the employee will be paid any unused vacation as provided by the vacation policy. The employee will not be paid for unused sick leave.

RETIREMENT

An employee who qualifies under the guidelines of the Texas Municipal Retirement System or the Texas Town Fireman's Relief and Retirement Fund to receive a monthly annuity payment is considered an eligible retiree from the Town of Fulton. An eligible retiree will be paid for unused vacation as provided by the vacation policy and unused accrued sick leave up to a maximum of 45 days upon retirement. Eligible retirees who retire after January 1, 1994, have the right to purchase a continuation of health benefits coverage at the time of retirement, as per Chapter 175, Local Government Code.

DEATH

In the event of an employee's death, the designated beneficiary will receive any earned salary,

unused vacation as provided by the vacation policy and unused accrued sick leave up to a maximum of 45 days. The City Secretary will assist the family of the deceased, executor or designated beneficiary to expedite the processing of any Town provided life insurance benefits or retirement benefits, if any.

CHAPTER 9 BENEFITS

HEALTH, DENTAL AND VISION INSURANCE

The Town provides Medical, Vision and Dental Insurance to all full-time employees (employee only) provided they have completed at least one (1) month of employment and they are actively employed at the next open enrollment time for insurance renewal. Additional coverage for spouses, eligible children or whole family coverage is available if applied for at the time the employee applies, open enrollment or within 30 days of a qualifying event. Any premium for dependents paid for by the employee is paid through payroll deductions.

LIFE AND DISABILITY INSURANCE (L&D)

Basic Life Insurance is provided by the Town to all full-time employees (employee only) in accordance with the current insurance carrier. The Town can adjust, as needed, with Council approval, all medical insurance benefits. Additional life insurance coverage for an employee and dependents of one-half (1/2) to three times (3X) the employee's salary are available and any premium for dependents paid for by the employee is paid through payroll deductions. Retiree life insurance is also available, and any premium paid for by the employee is paid through payroll deductions.

RETIREMENT

All employees except Firefighters will be enrolled in the Texas Municipal Retirement System unless an employee has voluntarily opted to not participate in the Town's retirement plan. Employees will contribute 7% of their salary, tax deferred. The Town matches the employees' contribution to the Texas Municipal Retirement System.

Retirement contributions begin immediately upon employment to provide retirement benefits when eligible.

STATUTORY BENEFITS

All full-time, part-time, and temporary employees are covered by statutory benefits. Statutory benefits include:

Medicare portion of Social Security - All employees hired after 4/1/86 are covered under the federal guidelines.

- Workers Compensation: The Town carries workers' compensation insurance which
 extends to any employee injured in the course and scope of their employment.
 Reporting is covered under the Town of Fulton's Safety Policy.
- Unemployment Compensation: The Town participates in the state's Unemployment Insurance Program.

VOLUNTARY PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

The Town agrees to withhold deductions that an employee requests, provided that the request is in writing and approved by the Town.

CHAPTER 10 TRAVEL AND TRAINING

GENERAL

The policy of the Town is that employees are to be reimbursed for necessary and reasonable jobrelated expenses incurred in the authorized conduct of public business, including business related travel. All travel shall be at the lowest cost reasonably available. Out of Town travel is permissible provided, it is authorized in advance and does not exceed budgetary limitations.

TRAVEL ADVANCE REQUEST FORM

An advance for estimated travel expenses is required. The form must include the purpose of the trip, the destination (town and state), and the departure/return dates and times. The travel request form may be obtained from the City Secretary.

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

The Town will pay the employees' actual expenses as authorized within this administrative directive, except for meals and incidental expenses (M & IE). Meals and incidental expenses will only be paid on a per diem basis and based on rates established by the U.S. General Services Administration for the current fiscal year. If neither the Town nor county is listed, the rate for meals and incidental expenses will be the standard CONUS destination rate. Itemized receipts must be provided for all expenses. The per diem shall be adjusted for partial travel days. Meal related tips are included in the per diem rate total.

The Town will not pay for meals for individuals who are not employed by the Town except with the written approval of the supervisor stating the business purpose of the meal.

The Town will not pay for social or recreational conference functions that are separate ticketed events not included in the base conference registration fee without prior approval of the supervisor (to be noted on request for travel process).

ALCOHOL PURCHASES

Under no circumstances will the cost of alcoholic beverages be reimbursed, nor should they be charged on a Town issued credit card. Employees are expected to pay for any alcoholic beverages separate from any eligible meal.

TRANSPORTATION (AIR)

Commercial Airlines: The Town will pay for coach roundtrip airfare and will not pay for seat upgrades.

TRANSPORTATION (VEHICLE)

The Town will not ensure payment for rental cars without the prior written approval of the employee's supervisor. When renting vehicles, the employee's personal auto insurance is the primary source of coverage in the event of an accident. The appropriate size of the rental vehicle should depend on such factors as the number of passengers, and the amount of luggage and/or

equipment being carried.

- Taxi and Ride Shares: The Town will reimburse employees' taxi and ride share fares for required transportation.
- Personal Vehicles: With the approval of the department supervisor, employees may use their personal vehicle for out-of-Town travel. The Town will pay the Internal Revenue Service mileage reimbursement rate in effect at the time of travel.

Those employees receiving a car allowance will not be paid mileage reimbursement for travel, which is within 50 miles (one way) of their office.

The Town will pay for any additional work-related mileage at the destination. A mileage log will be required.

The Town will pay for parking expenses, including airport parking (at the general or remote parking rate). For airport parking, supporting documentation must be provided and can be obtained from the airport's website. Mileage reimbursement to the airport, will be calculated from the employee's office (workday destination) or from the employee's home to the airport, whichever is less.

If an employee is driving a personal vehicle outside of the Town and has car failure, the Town will pay the expense of towing the vehicle to the nearest garage, over and above the employee's personal towing insurance coverage. The employee must pay for all repairs. The towing invoice and insurance documentation will be required.

• Town Vehicles: Town vehicles should be used when available or at the discretion of the supervisor. Direct expenses associated with the use of a Town vehicle, which are incurred by the employee, such as gasoline and oil, will be reimbursed.

HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS

The Town will pay actual expenses for hotels, motels, or other lodging. Employees must request the reduced government rate or conference rate when making reservations. Town employees are not exempt from hotel taxes and will be reimbursed for such taxes.

Incidental expenses are covered as part of the per diem rate.

TRAVEL ON BEHALF OF OTHER AGENCIES

With the approval of the department supervisor, employees may be granted travel time on behalf of other organizations. In unusual circumstances, the mayor is authorized to approve an advance of Town funds for travel expenses incurred on such trips.

TRAVEL OUTSIDE NORMAL WORKDAY

Compensation, for travel required outside an employee's normal working hours (i.e. Saturday, Sunday, early morning, evening), will be calculated according to the department requirements and consistent with the Fair Labor Standards Act and accompanying regulations.

OTHER AUTHORIZATIONS/APPROVALS

Authorization for Travel approval for supervisors will be the next level of supervision, as appropriate.

CHAPTER 11 FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

- The City Secretary is the designated official to receive and open all invoices. This ensures a single point of contact for suppliers and avoids confusion.
- The City Secretary is responsible for coding the invoices to the correct general ledger account and fund. This step is crucial to ensure that the expenses are correctly categorized in the financial system.
- The Comptroller reviews the coded invoices, cross-checking each with its respective purchase order or agreement to ensure accuracy before approving them.
- The Mayor serves as the final line of approval, verifying the correctness of the Comptroller's review and the appropriateness of the expenses.
- The approved invoices are given to the Bookkeeper, who functions as the Accounts Payable Clerk, for processing the payment.
- After processing payment, the Comptroller will review the checks and paid bills to ensure correct payment has been made.
- All checks must be dual signed by the City Secretary and the Mayor to maintain checks and balances. In case either is unavailable, two Council Members are authorized to sign checks.
- The signed checks are handed over to the Administrative Assistant for mailing or disbursement. They must maintain a complete, up-to-date list of checks, which includes check number, date, payee, amount, and mailing or disbursement date.

CHECK HANDLING AND DEPOSITS

- All received checks or money orders should be endorsed immediately upon receipt and handed over to the City Secretary by the end of the day.
- The Fulton Convention Center Coordinator, upon receiving checks or money orders as payment, must remit them to the City Secretary within 24 hours.
- The City Secretary is responsible for securely storing all received checks in the safe until the deposit day.
- On Fridays, the City Secretary will prepare the deposit slips, cross-checking them with the received checks or money orders, and deliver them to the bank.

CASH HANDLING

- Cash transactions are restricted to fines and fees at the Municipal Court, fishing pier pole fees, and retail sales at the pier.
- All cash transactions must be recorded immediately upon receipt with a receipt issued to the payer.
- At the end of each day, the total cash received must be reconciled with the recorded transactions, securely stored, and prepared for deposit.

CREDIT CARD CHARGES

- Employees should limit the use of the town's credit cards for official expenses only and must avoid routine transactions unless authorized.
- The City Secretary, who may have several routine monthly transactions, should ensure that all transactions are properly documented and submitted for reconciliation.

PROCUREMENT

- Procurement activities should be conducted in a fair and transparent manner. Wherever possible, multiple quotes should be obtained to ensure value for money.
- A purchase order or contract must be issued for each procurement, and the details should be accurately reflected in the financial system.

RECORD KEEPING

- The City Secretary, Comptroller, and Bookkeeper are collectively responsible for maintaining accurate and timely financial records. This includes keeping records of all invoices, checks, cash receipts, credit card transactions, and procurement documents.
- All records should be stored securely and systematically for ease of retrieval during audits or reviews. Electronic copies should be backed up regularly.

This policy is designed to maintain high standards of fiscal integrity and accountability. It should be followed by all employees involved in the Town of Fulton's financial transactions. Any deviations from these policies and procedures must be documented and approved by the Mayor.